
Labor Law
By JAMES B. RHOADS

The country's economic problems did not seem to appreciably affect the
volume of cases involving labor law decided in 1974 by the United States
Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit. The court decided approximately
80 cases involving the interpretation and application of the major federal
statutes governing the employment relationship,' excluding those cases
concerned with employment discrimination considered elsewhere in this
issue under the heading of "Civil Rights." A number of the court's cases
were particularly noteworthy, either for moving into hitherto uncharted
waters, for explicating the law, or for harmonizing seemingly inconsistent
and clashing policies. The purpose of this article will be to give the reader
some idea of the breadth of the subject matter necessarily considered by
the court in a year's work, and to explore in some detail, with an
admittedly subjective eye, what are considered by one person to be signifi-
cant labor law opinions decided by the court in 1974.

I. LABOR-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS Acr

The Labor-Management Relations Act continues to be the subject of the
majority of labor law cases considered by the court. During the past year
the court considered nearly 60 cases, publishing 39 opinions, and liberally
using Local Rule 21,2 enforcing without opinion 18 orders of the National
Labor Relations Board. In 1974, as in past years, the court defied doctri-
naire categorization as "liberal" or "conservative," or as "pro-Board" or
"pro-management." For the most part, although one might disagree with
the result reached by the court, one must be impressed with the remarka-
ble fundamental knowledge displayed by the court in what has become a
highly technical and complicated area of the law. In reviewing orders of
the National Labor Relations Board, the court did not talismanically ac-
cept the reasoning of the Board, although it did, of course, in accordance
with well accepted principles of administrative law, defer to the Board's
expertise in appropriate areas.3 This was the case whether the respondent

* Partner in Hyatt & Rhoads, Atlanta, Georgia. Lehigh University (A.B., 1961); Univer-
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1. Those statutes are the Labor Management Relations Act, 29 U.S.C. §141 (1970), the

Railway Labor Act, 45 U.S.C. ch. 15 (1970), the Occupational Safety and Health Act, 29
U.S.C. §651 (1970), and the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §201 (1970). For purposes
of this article, the Fair Labor Standards Act includes all of the acts administered by the
Department of Labor, including the Equal Pay Act, 29 U.S.C. §206 (1970), and the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. ch. 14 (1970).

2. See Bell, Annual Fifth Circuit Survey: Federal Practice and Procedure, 22 MERcER L.
REv. 745 (1971), for a discussion of the genesis and effect of Local Rule 21.

3. See, e.g., Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474 (1951)'
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in unfair labor practice proceedings, or the moving party in representation
proceedings, was an employer or a union.

As will also be seen, the Board rendered opinions which represent signifi-
cant analytical work in several areas that are in the process of ferment or
development. This discussion of the court's treatment of cases arising
under the Labor-Management Relations Act will be organized largely in
accordance with the provisions of that Act under which the main issues of
the cases in question were decided.

A. Jurisdiction

The court considered only one case, McElrath Poultry Co. v. NLRB,'
involving the Board's jurisdiction. Following its recent decision in Abbot
Farms, Inc. v. NLRB,1 the court held in a summary proceeding that feed-
mill employees, including truck drivers and mill operators, supporting an
employer's poultry raising business, were agricultural laborers within the
meaning of section 2(3)1 of the Act and therefore denied enforcement of the
Board's order that the employer bargain in that case.

B. Proceedings Under Sections 8 And 10
(Unfair Labor Practice Cases)

1. Protected Concerted Activity

The only case considered by the court during the year concerning the
scope of an employee's protected concerted activity was a most significant
one. In Hudgens v. NLRB,7 the court enforced a Board order holding a
shopping center owner guilty of a violation of section 8(a) (1) of the Act
by communicating a threat to have employees of a warehouse that serviced
a retail store leasing space in his shopping center mall arrested for picket-
ing the store. In so holding the court further extended the right of employ-
ees to picket at the expense of the landowner's property rights. The signifi-
cance of the case is emphasized by the Supreme Court's recent action
granting certiorari.'

The facts of the case were so uncomplicated that they were, for the most
part, stipulated in a proceeding before the Board. The respondent in the
case was the owner of a large 60 store retail shopping center located in
unincorporated suburban Atlanta, but drawing its customers from
throughout the metropolitan area of Atlanta. The shopping center was an
enclosed mall, very similar to the ones described by the Supreme Court in

4. 494 F.2d 518 (5th Cir. 1974).
5. 487 F.2d 904 (5th Cir. 1973).
6. 29 U.S.C. §142(3) (1970).
7. 501 F.2d 161 (5th Cir. 1974).
8. 29 U.S.C. §158(a)(1) (1970).
9. Hudgens v. NLRB, - U.S. - , 43 U.S.L.W. 3493 (March 17, 1975).
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Amalgamated Food Employees Union, Local 590 v. Logan Valley Plaza,
Inc.'0 and Lloyd Corp. v. Tanner." The mall had four primary entrances
and there were five driveway entrances to the parking lot. The owner's
interest in the commercial success of the stores was assured by- the provi-
sion in his lease which made his compensation dependent upon the gross
sales of the tenants. The owner was also responsible for security in exercis-
ing control and care of the common areas of the shopping center, including
the arcades in the mall and the parking lots.

The dispute giving rise to the case did not directly concern any store in
the shopping center, but involved an economic collective bargaining strike
by a unit of employees of a warehouse which serviced retail shoe outlets of
a shoe store chain in Atlanta. One of the outlets was doing business in the
mall. To further publicize the dispute at the warehouse, the union sought
to picket each of the retail outlets serviced by the warehouse. Pursuant to
this scheme, four warehouse employees entered the mall area before busi-
ness hours and on their way to the shoe store, encountered the mall man-
ager, an agent of the owner. The manager asked them to leave and stated
that picketing was not permitted in the mall under any circumstances. The
warehouse employees temporarily left the scene, but returned when the
store was opened and began picketing. When the mall manager found out
about this approximately 30 minutes after the picketing had begun, he
made telephone contact with one of the pickets and told him that if they
did not leave, they would be arrested. The pickets left and did not return,
but proceeded to the regional office of the NLRB and filed an unfair labor
practice charge. The Board held the company had violated section 8(a)(1),
finding that the case was controlled by Logan Valley, which the Board felt
established the Union's right to picket whatever it chose. The Board sought
enforcement, and while that matter was before the Fifth Circuit, the Su-
preme Court decided Lloyd and Central Hardware Co. v. NLRB. 2 The
case was therefore remanded to the Board for reconsideration in light of
those opinions.

The second time around, the Administrative Law Judge found that the
union had no other reasonable access to the shoe store customers coming
to the shopping center, and therefore again found that the owner's actions
violated section 8(a)(1). The Board affirmed finding that the picketers
were within the scope of the owner's invitation to the public to come to
the shopping center to do business with its tenants, and that they could
not be disignated as unacceptable and excluded merely because they were
engaged in protected concerted activity. The Board further observed that
the picketing site chosen by the union was the best one under the circum-
stances, since it tended to avoid any secondary effects.

10. 391 U.S. 308 (1968).
11. 407 U.S. 551 (1972).
12. 407 U.S. 539 (1972).
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In enforcing the Board's order, the court was unpursuaded by the
Board's attempt to change its rationale in midstream, and also found
"technically incorrect" the owner's contention that under the
circumstances of the case the court was bound to apply the test enunciated
by the Supreme Court in NLRB v. Babcock & Wilcox Co..'" The court
rather applied a test suggested by the United States Chamber of Com-
merce in its amicus curiae brief, which, in the words of the court, was a
"blending"'" of the Supreme Court's requirements in Lloyd and Logan
Valley. The test derived was as follows:

[Pirivate property becomes subject to protest or propaganda activity
when both of the following are satisfied (a) the protest is related to the
use to which the property is put and (b) there exists no reasonably effec-
tive alternative means of communication to reach the intended audience."°

The court accepted this statement of the test, recognizing the principle
that section 716 rights are not necessarily coextensive with constitutional
rights (the point made by the Supreme Court in Central Hardware) but
feeling that test isolated the factors relevant to the issue before it,i. e., what
is the point at which the private property rights of a shopping center owner
should be required to yield to the section 7 rights of labor picketers inform-
ing the public of their economic strike. In the words of the court:

The first consideration-the relationship between the picketing and shop-
ping center operations-is relevant to determining whether the pickets
have any right at all to conduct consumer-employer picketing inside .a
private enclosed mall, while the second consideration assays these picket-
ing rights against conflicting property rights of the center owner.'7

The court then went on to measure the conduct and interests of the
parties in the instant case against the standards set forth. Despite the fact
that the problems being advertised by the picketers were not remotely
related to the operations being conducted at the shopping center site,
either by the shopping center owner himself or by a retail operation in the
shopping center, the court found that the protest was related to the use to
which the property was put. The court reasoned that the appropriate focus
is on the message sought to be conveyed and its intended audience, and
not whether the labor dispute in fact was precipitated by something involv-
ing the operation of one particular store in the shopping center. The court
opined that if it were to adopt a narrower view, companies could isolate
themselves from the effects of picketing merely by setting up their retail
operations in enclosed malls.

13. 351 U.S. 105 (1956).
14. 501 F.2d at 166.
15. Id.
16. 29 U.S.C. §157 (1970).
17. 501 F.2d at 167.
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With regard to the second prong of the test, the court found supported
by substantial evidence the Administrative Law Judge's conclusion that
the owner made unavailable the alternative of picketing at the mall
entrances or on the parking lots by telling the pickets that they would have
to remove themselves to the public thoroughfare. The court found that a
distance of approximately 500 feet between such thoroughfares and the
mall entrance raised precisely the problems the Supreme Court found
persuasive in Logan Valley and raised the additional problems of diluting
the effectiveness of the picketing and making it difficult for the union to
limit the effect of its picketing to the shoe store alone. Accordingly, the
court held that the alternatives to picketing inside the mall were "either
unavailable or inadequate."'"

While it is recognized that section 8(a)(1) is certainly broad enough to
regulate the conduct of the owner in the instant case, it is noteworthy that
his conduct was neither state action, such as considered by the Court in
Logan Valley, nor the use of such action, but the mere communication of
the potential use of such action. As a practical matter, the owner's agent
did little more than protest to the employees that he did not like the fact
that they were picketing on his property, and that he would seek to enforce
that dislike by contacting the appropriate authorities. One wonders
whether the same result would have been reached if the employer threat-
ened the employees or the union with the filing of an unfair labor practice
charge under section 8(b)(4)'" or with the filing of a complaint pursuant
to section 3 0 3 " of the Act. The situtation is all the more curious when one
considers that the owner had no relationship whatsoever to the employees
in question or to any entity with which the employees had a dispute. Surely
as a matter of policy it does not seem necessary to so fetter an owner who
is merely communicating the intent to enforce what he reasonably believes
to be his right to be free from harrassment by a group of outsiders. The
regulation of his conduct in such an incipient stage does not appear to have
a great deal of value in terms of protecting the section 7 rights of the
employees in question.

Aside from that issue, which was apparently not raised by the parties
or considered by the court, and which, from a technical legal standpoint
is probably only tangentially relevant,2' the result of the case is certainly
at least arguably proper. The reasoning of the court, however, may be
criticized, particularly in its finding concerning the relationship between

18. Id. at 169.
19. 29 U.S.C. §158(b)(4) (1970).
20. 29 U.S.C. §187(b) (1970), which creates a cause of action in any district court in the

United States without respect to the amount in controversy for persons injured in their
business and property by reason of a violation of section 8(b)(4) of the Act.

21. The Board's practice of regulating conduct which has tendencies toward subverting
purposes of the Act, as opposed to actions having that actual effect in a given case have long
been recognized by the courts.
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the picketing and normal functions of the shopping center. The court re-
jected the contention that the picketing must be at least as directly related
to the business of the shopping center as the picketing was in Logan Valley,
quoting the second sentence of footnote 91 of the majority opinion in that
case. The court, however, did not include in its quotation the first sentence
of that footnote. The entire footnote reads as follows:

The picketing carried on by petitioners was directed specifically at pa-
trons of the Weiss Market located within the shopping center and the
message sought to be conveyed to the public concerned the manner in
which that particular market was being operated. We are, therefore, not
called upon to consider whether the respondents' property rights could,
consistently with the First Amendment, justify a bar on picketing which
was not thus directly related in its purpose to the use to which the shop-
ping center property was being put.23

The Supreme Court, in footnote 9 of its opinion, therefore specifically
reserved opinion on the issue directly before the court of appeals in the
instant case, in a case involving constitutional rights. Thus, it is at least
arguable that in a section 7 case, such as the instant case, the court's facile
conclusion that "[n]either logic nor precedent requires that picketing be
directly related to the actual operation of an individual store in the shop-
ping center as was the case in Logan Valley,"' 2' could have been arrived at
by more technically sound analysis.

The competing interests in the instant case are not as equally balanced
as they were in Logan Valley and Lloyd. In those cases, the rights being
balanced were the constitutional rights of free speach of the picketers and
handbillers on the one hand, and the constitutional property rights of the
property owner on the other. In the instant case, the balance is struck
between the section 7 rights of employees of a company unrelated to the
operation of the shopping center or any store therein on the one hand,
against the constitutional property rights of the owner on the other. De-
spite this difference in the interests to be balanced, the court in the instant
case was willing to apply a more liberal relationship test than the Supreme
Court has expressly applied to the situation which balanced conflicting
constitutional rights. It will be interesting to await the Supreme Court's
striking the balance in this case.n

2. Section 8(a)(1)-Actions of Employer as Interference, Restraint and
Coercion

In contrast to the difficult and intricate questions posed by the Hudgens

22. 391 U.S. at 320 n.9.
23. Id.
24. 501 F.2d at 167.
25. Certiorari was recently granted. - U.S. - , 43 U.S.L.W. 3493 (March 17, 1975).
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case, the cases considered by the court involving allegations that employ-
ers' actions constituted interference, restraint and coercion in violation of
section 8(a)(1) of the Act were fairly routine cases in which the court
enforced the Board's order as being supported by substantial evidence on
the record as a whole. Those cases, NLRB v. Groendyke Transport, Inc.,2

NLRB v. Rex Disposables, Division of DHJ Industries, Inc. and NLRB
v. Mueller Brass," were all routine section 8(a)(1) and (3)2 cases involving
the conduct of employers during union organizational campaigns. The
court held in all three instances that the Board's findings and conclusions
were supported by substantial evidence, and the remedies ordered were
well within the Board's discretionary remedial power.

3. Section 8(a)(3)-Discriminatory Actions of Employer Intended to
Encourage or Discourage Union Membership

In addition to the three routine cases noted in the immediately preceed-
ing section of this article, the Board considered three cases involving alle-
gations of violations of section 8(a)(3).1 In two of those cases, the court
disagreed with the Board's conclusions that circumscribed employers'
rights to deal with striking employees during economic strikes.

In NLRB v. Anvil Products, Inc. ,31 the court held that the Board's find-
ing that the employer's discharges of certain striking employees violated
section 8(a)(3) were supported by substantial evidence. The court, how-
ever, went on to deny enforcement of the Board's order that the employer
continue to bargain with the union. That order rested on a finding that the
employer's 8(a)(3) violations precluded his subsequent refusal to bargain
based on the objective consideration of a decertification petition circulated
and signed without employer instigation. The court found it particularly
significant that there was no evidence in the record that the 8(a)(3) viola-
tions in question spawned any union disaffection whatsoever by the em-
ployees who had filed the petition.

In Seminole Asphalt Refining, Inc. v. NLRB, 2 the court agreed with the
Board that certain unfair labor practice strikers were entitled to reinstate-
ment on request, but disagreed with the Board's order reinstating other
employees who, according to findings of the Administrative Law Judge
made primarily on credibility findings, had participated in picket line
misconduct. The court specifically disapproved of the Board's balancing
of the severity of the picket line misconduct with the severity of the prior
employer unfair labor practices:

26. 493 F.2d 17 (5th Cir. 1974).
27. 494 F.2d 588 (5th Cir. 1974).
28. 501 F.2d 680 (5th Cir. 1974).
29. 29 U.S.C. §158(a)(3) (1970).
30. 29 U.S.C. §158(a) (3) (1970).
31. 496 F.2d 94 (5th Cir. 1974).
32. 497 F.2d 247 (5th Cir. 1974).
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Because of the potential violent and dangerous consequences inherent
within these employees' acts of misconduct, their actions cannot be con-
doned. For that reason we find that the violent and dangerous nature of
the acts of the employees [brick throwing and throwing cherry bombs in
the vicinity of storage tanks containing flamable petroleum] outweighs
the unfair labor practices of the Company.u

Thus, the court asserted its prerogative of supervising the NLRB in its
capacity as interpreter of the law.

In NLRB v. Foodway of El Paso,3 1 the court enforced a Board order
finding an employer who had purchased the assets of a grocery store guilty
of violation of section 8(a)(3) when it, in order to avoid the obligations of
a successor employer, refused to hire employees of the seller because they
were members of a union. The facts of the case as set forth by the court
seemed to present a fairly patent effort by the employer to do exactly as
the Board found it did.

4. Section 8(a)(5)-Employer's Duty to Bargain

Two of the cases considered by the court in the context of alleged viola-
tions of section 8(a) (5)5 are instructive as a short course in how not to avoid
the bargaining obligations of the Act. As noted in the preceeding section,
NLRB v. Foodway of El Paso" involved an attempt by the buyer to avoid
the bargaining obligation imposed upon a "successor employer." The tac-
tic used was to refuse to hire any of the employees of the predecessor
employer who were members of the union. The problem was that the buyer
did hire all of the employees in those of the seller's stores that were unor-
ganized. The court had little trouble enforcing that p9rtion of the Board's
order which required the employer to bargain with the union representing
the seller's employees. In the other case, NLRB v. Big Three Industries,
Inc. ,3, the issue considered by the court was the propriety of the employer's
bargaining conduct. An examination of the court's statement of facts re-
veals that the employer in this case did not even attempt to go through
the motions of "surface bargaining."38 Instead the employer merely re-
jected the union's initial proposal, invited the union to strike, and then,
after three sessions at which the employer steadfastly refused to discuss
the union's proposals,the employer broke off bargaining thereafter refusing
to meet with the union at all. The Board had little trouble finding that this

33. Id. at 249.
34. 496 F.2d 117 (5th Cir. 1974).
35. 29 U.S.C. §158(a)(5) (1970).
36. 496 F.2d 117 (5th Cir. 1974).
37. 497 F.2d 43 (5th Cir. 1974).
38. Surface bargaining is the label attached by the Board to a pattern of bargaining

utilized by employers to give the appearance of bargaining with the intent of not arriving at
an agreement. Such bargaining is considered a violation of the parties' obligation to bargain
in good faith.
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conduct did not meet the "good faith" test, and the court held that finding
well within the Board's discretion and amply supported by substantial
evidence.

The other cases decided under section 8(a)(5) were not as one-sided. In
NLRB v. Hi- Way Billboards, Inc. ," the court had before it a case it had
previously remanded to the Board in 1973.40 The case involved the pro-
priety of an employer's withdrawal from a multi-employer bargaining unit
after negotiations between the union and the multi-employer group had
reached impasse. The court directed the Board to consider whether such
impasse excused the company from withdrawing from a multi-employer
unit. On remand, the Board decided that an employer could not unilater-
ally withdraw from a multi-employer bargaining unit because impass in
negotiations had been reached. The Board reasoned in effect that impasse
is akin merely to a hiatus in negotiations and is not an unexpected event
in the course of collective bargaining. The Board concluded therefore that
impasse did not constitute an "unusual circumstance" within the mean-
ing of that term as applied by the Board in Retail Associates, Inc."

While the court deemed itself "impressed"4 with the cogency of the
Board's argument insofar as it protected the interests of the union, it could
not agree that it fairly struck the balance between competing interests of
the union and the employer. Noting the Board's previous holding that a
union may withdraw from a multi-employer unit with respect to one or
more employers while continuing multi-employer bargaining with those
employers remaining in the unit, the court was persuaded that the combi-
nation of that rule and the rule pronounced in the Hi- Way Billboards case
would result too often in the possibility of the union's use of "whipsawing"
tactics. Noting that the Board's decision was inconsistent with an earlier
decision in Morand Brothers Beverage Co.,"3 and that it was contrary to
the decision of the Eighth Circuit in Fairmont Foods Co. v. NLRB," the
court stated:

if the Board desires to announce a different presently prevailing rule, that
rule could not be given retroactive effect by this Court unless that effect
is fair to the Company as well as the Union. We cannot escape the view
that enforcement of the Board's order would be unfair to the Company.'5

Some might question in the name of judicial economy why the court in
its 1973 decision remanded the case to the Board when it apparently was
inclined to hold the existence of impasse is an "unusual circumstance"

39. 500 F.2d 181 (5th Cir. 1974).
40. NLRB v. Hi-Way Billboards, Inc., 473 F.2d 649 (1973).
41. 120 N.L.R.B. No. 388 (1958).
42. 500 F.2d at 183'
43. 91 N.L.R.B. No. 409 (1950).
44. 471 F.2d 1170 (8th Cir. 1972).
45. 500 F.2d at 184.
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sufficient to excuse an employer for withdrawal from a multi-employer
unit. Under traditional concepts of administrative law, however, the
court's remand action was appropriate in order to give the Board the first
opportunity to explain its theories concerning the matter at hand.

Another case, Newspaper Production Co. v. NLRB,11 considered two
issues which have received a great deal of attention in the last several
years: the so-called single employer or integrated employer issue, which is
often prominent in secondary boycott cases and refusal to bargain cases;
and the extent of a union's ability to expand the bargaining unit without
an election. In this case, which started out as a small skirmish and ended
as a full-scale war, there were two businesses directly involved. The first,
a publishing company, handled the mechanics of publication of two sepa-
rately owned newspapers in Shreveport, Louisiana. The production com-
pany was a joint venture of both newspapers, being owned 62-1/2% by one
and 37-1/2% by the other. The other company, an engraving company, was
owned equally by each of the newspapers and a third unrelated party, and
performed, among other things, all the engraving work for the production
company.

The dispute began with the engraving company when the union, which
had represented a small 8 to 11 man unit of skilled engravers, won an
election to represent the three production workers of that company. Coinci-
dentally, the contract for the larger group expired about the same time the
union was negotiating with the company for a new collective bargaining
agreement with the small group. The company desired to have two con-
tracts, on the grounds that it wanted one for skilled and the other for
unskilled employees. The union business agent, on the other hand, insisted
on negotiating only one contract. This little spark of a dispute, however,
erupted when each side took a hard position on that issue. The union
struck and instead of being content to involve only the engraving company
employees, threw a picket around the building which housed both the
engraving company and the production company. That action had the
effect (probably not unanticipated by the union) of inducing the employees
of the production company, who were also organized, not to cross the
picket lines. Thus, the operations of both employers were virtually shut
down. The strike did not last long, however, and because of the involve-
ment of another union, which apparently was undesirable to the striking
union, an offer was made on behalf of the engraver's employees to return
to work. In the meantime, however, the production company, being dissat-
isfied with the shutdown of its operations, discharged all of the employees
who had honored the picket line on the grounds that their conduct had
violated an alleged no strike clause in a union contract applicable to them.
The gloves having been thus removed, all sides filed charges and the Board
was left to sort out the mess.

46. 503 F.2d 821 (5th Cir. 1974).
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The Board's Administrative Law Judge initially ruled with the company
on the pivotal question of whether the union could legitimately insist to
impasse on having a single contract. The judge reasoned that the demand
related to a non-mandatory subject of bargaining and therefore could not
be insisted upon to impasse. The judge likewise found for the company on
the second crucial issue and held that the engraving company and the
production company were "separate employers" and that the picketing by
the engravers' union of the production company constituted unlawful sec-
ondary activity in violation of section 8(b)(4).11 All of the other issues
concerning the employer's failure to reinstate the striking employees de-
pended on the resolution of those pivotal issues, and the net result was a
victory for the company. The Board, however, disagreed with the Adminis-
trative Law Judge on the two central issues, the net result being a victory
for the union."

The court, relying primarily on the substantial evidence test, sided with
the Board on the single employer issue, and, admittedly, "push[ing] the
law concerning the ability of a union to bargain to impasse slightly ahead
of where [they] found it . . .,"" sided with the Board on that issue as
well, the net result being total victory for the union.

The court's application of the rule that as between two fairly conflicting
points of view, the court will accept the Board's factual conclusions is
unexceptionable in the context of the first issue. However, the distinction
relied upon by the court in order to sustain the Board on the second issue
necessitated a honing of the court's analytical blade to razor sharpness. In
this connection, the court recognized the rule that, generally, insistence to
the point of impasse on restriction or expansion of a bargaining unit is an
unfair labor practice; nevertheless the court noted:

The considerations prompting this general rule are, however, largely ab-
sent in this case. We therefore decline to extend the to cover the particular
facts before us in the face of a contrary conclusion by the Board, the
agency charged with the responsibility of setting our national labor rela-
tions policy. In so doing we do not in any manner impugn the general rule
and the contexts in which it has previously been applied.

Here, the union already represented the general production workers they
sought to include in the bargaining unit. Thus, unlike other court
decisions, this case does not involve any interference with the representa-
tional rights of the employees affected by expansion of the unit [citations
omitted]. . . . In contrast to other decisions, this case does not involve a
demand for a unit that would conflict with a previous Board unit certifica-
tion5

47. 29 U.S.C. §158(b)(4) (1970).
48. Newspaper Prod. Co., 205 N.L.R.B. No. 113 (1973).
49. 503 F.2d at 824.
50. Id. at 828.
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Whether or not one agrees with the Board's conclusion in this case, one
certainly must sympathize with the person who, without the benefit of
hindsight, had the onerous task of advising the employer in this case,
especially in light of the seemingly trivial issue over which the entire war
apparently was fought.

Finally the court considered two cases in which the primary issue was
the propriety of a Board-ordered remedy for violations of section 8(a)(5).
In United Steel Workers of America, AFL-CIO v. NLRB,5 ' the court held
that the Board improperly failed to consider the union's request for a
"make whole" 52 remedy, for compensation to the union for attorney's fees,
and for the costs to the union resulting form a strike in which the union
participated to protest the employer's refusal to bargain subsequently
found to be violative of section 8(a)(5). The court's finding in this regard,
however, was merely instructive to the Board, inasmuch as after examina-
tion of the record, the court concluded that such remedies were not appro-
priate in the case in question because the employer's conduct was not so
flagrant as to require that type of remedy. After analyzing the objections
raised by the employer to conduct affecting the results of the election in
that case, which if maintained, necessarily had to be pressed all the way
to the circuit, the court found that though one of them was close to being
spurious, the other raised fair litigable issues. Further, the court noted that
there was no indication that the employer was attempting unnecessarily
to delay resolution of the election dispute by its petition for review in the
case. The case contains a good summary of the court's attitude toward the
make whole remedy and for this reason is instructive to practitioners repre-
senting clients in this circuit.

In the other case considering remedies under section 8(a)(5), NLRB v.
Gibson Products Co. ,3 the court, in what has become a somewhat unusual
occurrence, reversed a Gissel order' of theBoard. The case had originally
come up prior to the Gissel decision and had been remanded by the Court
for consideration in light of that case.0 After reconsideration, the Board
came down with the same result. The court disagreed, and its primary
criticism of the Board was directed at the use of rubrics instead of analysis.

51. 496 F.2d 1342 (5th Cir. 1974).
52. A remedy, premised on the decision by the Court of Appeals for the District of Colum-

bia, known as the Tiidee Products case, International Union of Electrical, Radio & Machine
Workers v. NLRB, 426 F.2d 1243 (D.C. Cir.), cert. denied, 400 U.S. 950 (1970), under which
for flagrant violations of the Act, the Board considers requests for relief seeking to make
employees whole for such violations

53. 494 F.2d 762 (5th Cir. 1974).
54. An order to bargain premised on the decision of the Supreme Court in NLRB v. Gissel

Packing Co., 395 U.S. 575 (1969).
55. NLRB v. Gibson Prods. Co., 421 F.2d 156 (5th Cir. 1969).
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5. Section 8(b)(1) and (2)-Actions of Union as Restraint, Coercion, or
Discrimination

The court considered two cases involving alleged discrimination by a
union against individuals who were not residents of the geographic location
in which the union was located. In the first of these cases, NLRB v. Inter-
national Longshoremen's Ass'n Local 1581,"1 the court enforced a Board
order which found the union in violation of section 8(b)(2) for formulating
and following a job referral practice which discriminated against alien
employees and employees whose families lived outside the country. The
case was somewhat unusual in that it arose out of charges brought in 1965,
and complaint was not issued until 1971. There is no explanation in the
court's decision as to the reason for the seemingly inordinate delay between
the date the charges were filed and the date the complaint was issued.

In T.I.M.E.-DC, Inc. v. NLRB," the court held substantial evidence
supported the Board's finding that the union, by instigating, and the em-
ployer, by acquiescing in, the reduction of seniority and later discharge of
an employee who had been a member of another union local, violated
section 8(b)(1)(A),"1 section 8(b)(2), and section 8(a)(1) and (3), respec-
tively.

In NLRB v. Brotherhood of Railway Airline & Steamship Clerks,"° the
court enforced a Board order finding a union violated section 8(b)(1)(A)
and (b)(2) by requiring the company to deduct dues from employees who
had at one time executed check-off authorization cards, but had thereafter
severed their employment relationship, and when subsequently re-
employed, did not execute a new check-off authorization card. The court
held upon the severing of the employment relationship, the authorization
card is no longer valid, despite whatever language there may be on the card
itself indicating irrevocability."

6. Section 8(b)(7)-Recognitional Picketing

In Shell Chemical Co. v. NLRB, 11 the court approved the Board's conclu-

56. 489 F.2d 635 (5th Cir. 1974).
57. 29 U.S.C. §158(b)(2) (1970).
58. 504.F.2d 294 (5th Cir. 1974).
59. 29 U.S.C. §158(b)(1)(A) (1970).
60. 498 F.2d 1105 (5th Cir. 1974).
61. The card in question in this connection stated in pertinent part:

This authorization and assignment shall be irrevocable for the term of the applica-
ble contract between the Union and the Company, or for one year, whichever is the
lesser, and shall automatically renew itself for successive yearly or applicable con-
tract periods thereafter, whichever is the lesser, unless I give written notice to the
Company and the Union at least 60 days and not more than 75 days before any
periodic renewal date of this authorization and assignment of my desire to revoke
the same. 498 F.2d at 1107 n. 1.

62. 495 F.2d 1116 (5th Cir. 1974).
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sion that the union had not violated section 8(b)(7)"3 of the Act by picket-
ing for the reinstatement of one of its members. In so holding, the court
found that picketing for reinstatement does not necessarily have a recogni-
tional motive, and further found that there was substantial evidence to
support the Board's conclusion that under the circumstances of that case,
no such recognitional motive was present.

7. Procedure

The court considered a number of cases involving procedural points in
unfair labor practice cases. The variety of procedural points raised may
give rise to the conclusion that counsel will go to any lengths to attempt
to raise such issues in the early stages of proceedings so that litigable issues
will remain that can be presented to the circuit court with a straight face
in the event of unfavorable results in substantive matters.

In NLRB v. Rex Disposables Division of DHJ Industries, Inc." two pro-
cedural issues were disposed of, both of which related pleading practices
before the Board. The court agreed with the Board that although an 8(a) (3)
layoff charge was dismissed, the charge still supported an allegation in a
complaint alleging unlawful interrogation violative of section 8(a) (1), since
the original charge contained a catchall provision. 5 In addition, the court
agreed that in interrogation cases, the Board met due process requirements
by supplying, in the complaint, names of supervisors accused of interroga-
tion on the date of the incident alleged, and therefore, the refusal of the
Board to grant the employer's bill of particulars did not violate due process
concepts.

The court was not in agreement with the Board, however, on another
issue. In Marine Welding & Repair Works Inc. v. NLRB,11 the Board was
held to have erred in quashing an employer's subpoena in failing to have
a subpoena enforced which would have required the Mississippi Employ-
ment Security Commission to produce records regarding attempts by an
employee who was the subject of a back pay hearing to seek work during
the period of his alleged unemployment.

In Shell Chemical Co. v. NLRB,17 the court held that a Board order
quashing a section 10(k) hearing as to the assignment of certain work was
not such a "final order" as to be capable of review before the court of
appeals. The court analogized that procedural decision by the Board with

63. 29 U.S.C. §158(b)(7) (1970).
64. 494 F.2d 588 (5th Cir. 1974).
65. The catchall provision stated:

By the above and other acts, the above-named employer has interfered with, re-
strained, and coerced employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed by §7 of
the Act. Id. at 589.

66. 492 F.2d 526 (5th Cir. 1974).
67. 495 F.2d 1116 (5th Cir. 1974).
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the failure or refusal of the general counsel to issue a complaint on a
particular unfair labor practice proceeding.

Finally, in NLRB v. Seafarers Union, 8 the court considered the rather
novel contention by a union, which was the respondent in an unfair labor
practice proceeding, that the Administrative Law Judge should have, sua
sponte, taken it upon himself to introduce evidence which the union felt
would have proved its defense. The evidence in question was the union's
constitution and by-laws, which, either through inadvertance or negli-
gence, it had not introduced at the unfair labor practice proceeding. The
court thus preserved the Administrative Law Judge's function as being
that of an adjudicator, rather than of an inquisitor responsible for the facts
presented to it. The court observed that the union could not shift its
responsibility to the Act for not having offered its constitution after the
hearing had closed.

C. Proceedings Under Section 9
(Representation Cases)

Again, the cases dealing with representation questions, with the excep-
tion of those dealing with the Board's "blocking charge" rule, were consid-
ered by the court in the context of alleged violations of section 8(a)(5) of
the Act. 9 As has been noted before, refusal to bargain by the employer
after a certified election is the only method by which review can be had of
the Board's determinations in representation proceedings.

1. Procedure

The court considered only two cases during the year involving the pro-
priety of the Board's resolution of objections to conduct affecting the re-
sults of elections through the use of ex parte investigation as opposed to
adversary hearing. The cases, NLRB v. Carlton McLendon Furniture Co. 70

and United Steel Workers of America v. NLRB,7' reached opposite results.
A comparison of the two, especially in regard to the factual situations
giving rise to the cases, is instructive primarily in helping to clarify what
an objecting party must show in order to secure a hearing on its objections.

In Carlton McLendon, the court found that the objecting employer had
indeed shown by affidavits and other evidence that a material misrepre-
sentation had been made to the employees shortly before the election. The
employer attempted to cure the misrepresentation by posting a notice on
the bulletin board. Nevertheless, the election was held and resulted in a

68. 496 F.2d 1363 (5th Cir. 1974).
69. For an explanation of this procedure, see Beaird and Sutter, Annual Fifth Circuit

Survey: Labor Law and Related Social Legislation, 22 MEaacE L. Rxv. 697, 721 nn. 148-49
(1971).

70. 488 F.2d 58 (5th Cir. 1974).
71. 496 F.2d 1342 (5th Cir. 1974).
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narrow victory" for the union. The court found under those circumstances
the Board should have granted the administrative hearing to determine the
effect, if any, of the misrepresentations on the election itself. In Steel
Workers, on the other hand, the court held the misrepresentation alleged
there was more trivial and, although there were threats, those threats were
allegedly made to a small number of employees. Noting that the union won
the election by a large margin, 3 the court approved the Board's resolution
of the case against the company in an ex parte investigation.

2. Unit Determinations

The Board had only a 50% average7" on the two cases involving unit
determinations considered by the court, and the case in which the Board
was sucessful was a close one. In Amalgamated Clothing Workers v.
NLRB, 5 the court held that a unit of cutting room employees (cutters,
markers, and spreaders) in a clothing manufacturing operation were not,
as the Board had held, sufficiently distinguishable so as to constitute a
separate appropriate unit. While the court stated its recognition of the rule
that the Board has a large measure of discretion in making unit
determinations, the court was critical of the Board's analysis of the facts
and applicable law in that case.

In the other case, NLRB v. Deaton Inc.,," the court enforced the Board
order finding multiple owner-drivers who leased their rigs to a trucking
company "employees" within the meaning of the Act and therefore pro-
perly includable in a unit of drivers. In so holding, the court went through
an analysis of the various indicia of an employer-employee relationship
and concluded that the Board was within its discretion, even though its
decision was inconsistent with subsequent Board decisions on the same
issue.

A comparison of the decision in Deaton with that of the Court in NLRB
v. Overland Hauling, Inc.," which held that it was within the Board's
discretion to find drivers owning several tractor-trailers were supervisors
within the meaning of the Act, and thus excludable from a unit of drivers,
shows the difficulty of attempting to draw the fine line between inclusion
and exclusion of this category of employee. This difficulty is heightened
by the court's comment in Deaton concerning the inconsistency of the
Board's action on subsequent decisions:

72. The final tally was 44 for the union and 39 against. 488 F.2d at 59.
73. The vote was 52 for and 26 against the union. 496 F.2d at 1344.
74. The 50% average, of course, was only with regard to cases in which the court accompa-

nied its decision with a written opinion.
75. 491 F.2d 595 (5th Cir. 1974).
76. 502 F.2d 1221 (5th Cir. 1974).
77. 461 F.2d 944 (5th Cir. 1972).
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Even if subsequent cases reaching the opposite result are truly indistin-
guishable, it is not our province to insure an abstract and academic con-
sistency in Board decisions. The personnel and philosophies of adminstra-
tive bodies are subject to constant change. Especially in an area as frought
with technical distinctions and as dependent on factfindings as the
employee-independant contractor dichotomy, we should decline to inter-
fere with the Board decision reached through orderly processes under pro-
per legal standards and supported by substantial evidence.15

Some might consider this statement of opinion by the court to be inconsist-
ent with the result reached in last year's decision in NLRB v. L.B. Foster
Co.,71 which, per curiam, held it an abuse of the Board's discretion to
exclude lead employees from a unit under facts and circumstances sub-
stantially similar to those in an earlier case in which such employees were
included by the Board.

3. Blocking Charge Rule

In two cases during the year, the court held it within the Board's discre-
tion to apply the so-called "blocking charge"0 rule to postpone the process-
ing of a decertification petition pending the disposition of unfair labor
practice charges. In NLRB v. Big Three Industries, Inc.,' the court af-
firmed a district court's dismissal of a suit by employees to compel the
NLRB to process their decertification petition. The court readily con-
cluded that the Board's application of the "blocking charge" rule was well
within its discretion.

The same result was reached in Bishop v. NLRB.82 The latter decision,
however, is noteworthy in that it went to some lengths to explain the Fifth
Circuit view of the Supreme Court case Leedom v. Kyne,93 and to explain
the Fifth Circuit holdings in Templeton v. Dixie Color Printing Co." and
Surratt v. NLRB, 15 in which the court ordered the Board to investigate and
act upon a decertification petition notwithstanding the fact that unfair
labor practice charges against the employer were pending, on the grounds
that the reasons for the blocking charge were not present in those cases.
The court's major conclusion in Bishop is that Templeton and Surratt
represent clear aberrations insofar as the Board's action was concerned,
and their principles should be applicable only in cases of egregious abuse
of discretion by the Board.

78. 502 F.2d at 1228.
79. 477 F.2d 565 (5th Cir. 1973).
80. This is the rule whereby the Board defers action on a representation petition until

pending unfair labor practices against the employer are litigated or settled.
81. 497 F.2d 43 (5th Cir. 1974).
82. 502 F.2d 1024 (5th Cir. 1974).
83. 358 U.S. 184 (1958).
84. 444 F.2d 1064 (5th Cir. 1971).
85. 463 F.2d 378 (5th Cir. 1972).
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D. Cases Under Section 301

Again, in 1974, the court considered a proportionately large number of
cases under section 301.11 Some of these involved difficult issues and were
among the most significant decided by the court during the year.

1. Enforcement of Arbitration Awards

The court routinely enforced the award of an arbitrator in International
Ass'n of Heat & Frost Insulators & Asbestos Workers, Local 66 v. Leona
Lee Corp.87 and, in International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers,
Local 278 v. Jetero Corp.," held it proper for a court to resolve questions
of law before ordering arbitration and therefore to deny enforcement of so
much of that award which was outside the scope of the resolution of the
issue referred.

2. Successorship

In United Steel Workers of America v. United States Gypsum Co." and
Boeing v. International Ass'n of Machinists & Aerospace Workers,90 the
court considered two major cases involving the intricate and difficult issue
of successorship. Both of these cases involved analysis in light of the Su-
preme Court's decisions in NLRB v. Burns International Security Services,
Inc." and Howard Johnson Co. v. Detroit Local Joint Executive Board,
Hotel & Restaurant Employees & Bartenders International Union, and
both reached opposite results.

In the first case, United Steel Workers, the court considered the award
of the arbitrator in a dispute which the court had directed the parties to
submit to arbitration some six years before.' The court enforced the arbi-
trator's award, and in the process reversed a lower court's modification of
that award. The dispute centered around a 1965 purchase by Gypsum of
all the assets and property of a lime plant owned by United Cement Co.
Three days prior to the effective date of the transaction, the selling com-
pany closed the plant and terminated all employees. The purchase agree-
ment between the buyer and seller specifically stated that the buyer was
not submitting itself to the obligations of the collective bargaining agree-

86. 29 U.S.C. §185 (1970).
87. 489 F.2d 1032 (5th Cir. 1974).
88. 496 F.2d 661 (5th Cir. 1974).
89. 492 F.2d 713, cert. denied, __ U.S. _ 43 U.S.L.W. 3280 (Nov. 11, 1974).
90. 504 F.2d 307 (5th Cir. 1974).
91. 406 U.S. 272 (1972).
92. - U.S. -, 94 S.Ct. 2236 (1974).
93. United States Gypsum Co. v. United Steelworkers of America, 384 F.2d 38 (5th Cir.

1967), cert. denied, 389 U.S. 1042 (1968).
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ment between the selling employer and the union representing its employ-
ees.

After the sale, the buyer subsequently hired all but three of the seller's
former employees and began operating the plant four days after the trans-
action. The plant operated in exactly the same manner subsequent to the
transaction as it had before, employing virtually all of the same individu-
als. The buyer, nevertheless, steadfastly refused to recognize or bargain
with the union which had represented the seller's employees and refused
also to abide by any of the terms of the seller's collective bargaining agree-
ment, which still had at the time several years to run. The union prepared
and submitted to the company a number of grievances but the company
refused to process them under the grievance procedure. At about the same
time, the company began decertification proceedings in which it ulti-
mately prevailed, the union being decertified some twenty months after
the sale.

In the meantime, the union sought to have its grievances declared arbitr-
able, and achieved success in that regard in 1968 after litigation in the
Fifth Circuit." After arbitration hearings, the arbitrator held the company
was bound by the wage reopener provision and by the dues check-off provi-
sion in the seller's collective bargaining agreement. With regard to the
wage reopener, the arbitrator found, based on evidence submitted to him,
that had there been bargaining on the reopener, the company would have
submitted to a 10% wage increase instead of the voluntary 6% wage in-
crease which it unilaterally promulgated during the period in question.
With regard to the dues checkoff violation, the arbitrator ordered the com-
pany to reimburse the union for the amount it would have had to pay had
it abided by that section of the contract.

The company sought to have the arbitrator's award set aside, attacking
it with a broad salvo, and was partially successful in the district court,
where it was held that the arbitrator's remedies were outside his authority,
even though his findings regarding the violations were proper." Neither
side was satisfied with that decision, and both petitioned for review in the
Fifth Circuit.

The company was by far the more disappointed with the results of the
arbitration, and pressed before the court its argument that the 1972 Su-
preme Court decision in Burns precluded the arbitrator from holding the
company bound by any provision of the seller's collective bargaining agree-
ment, since it neither agreed to nor assumed the contract. The court disa-
greed with that conclusion after re-analyzing thoroughly John Wiley &
Sons, Inc. v. Livingston," and after an extensive analysis of Burns.7

94. Id.
95. United Steelworkers of America v. United States Gypsum Co., 339 F. Supp. 302 (N.D.

Ala. 1972).
96. 376 U.S. 543 (1964).
97. 492 F.2d at 725-27.
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Conceding that it was justifiable to conclude after reading Burns that
the result reached in the context of Board action taken to remedy viola-
tions of section 8(a)(5) could similarly be applied to arbitral action de-
signed to remedy violations of a collective bargaining agreement, the court
declined to adopt that position since the holding in Burns did not require
that result. The court found particularly persuasive the nature of the
change in employers in Gypsum when compared to that in Burns, finding
it "an example of an almost uninterrrupted continuation of the same labor
environment as existed with the previous employer and owner of the busi-
ness enterprise." 8 Noting the difference between adjudications before the
NLRB and those before an arbitrator, the court concluded:

Whatever may be the ultimate effect of Burns, further elaboration is un-
necessary to illustrate that there are adequate reasons for not reading that
decision as indicative of a national labor policy that precludes an arbitra-
tor from binding a successor to substantive provisions of a prior existing
collective bargaining agreement."

The second major issue raised by the company, and the one found persu-
asive by the district court, arose from the contention that the Supreme
Court decision H.K. Porter Co. v. NLRBI°° precluded the arbitrator from
imposing a particular money increase or the dues check-off provision on
the employer. The court disagreed with this analysis also, finding what it
termed to be a "crucial distinction" in the point in the collective bargain-
ing process at which the dispute arose:

Contrary to the command of the existing collective bargaining agreement,
Gypsum refused to negotiate at all concerning an increase in wages for the
third year of the contract. The union was thus deprived of its contractually
due opportunity to sit down at the bargaining table and negotiate. At least
the union in H.K. Porter reached the bargaining table. This, plus good
faith, is all the Act was designed to insure. [Citation omitted] Gypsum,
however, did not give the union this chance, resulting in a clear breach of
the collective bargaining agreement. In an effort to remedy this breach,
the arbitrator believed it appropriate to compensate the union, and
thereby the employees it had the responsibility of representing, for this
loss. Under the circumstances of this case, the arbitrator decided that if
he was to remedy the breach, his approach was the only one available.10 ,

This the court found to be well within the remedial powers of the arbitra-
tor, despite the company's contention that it was not founded in the "es-
sence" of the collective bargaining agreement itself.

While it is apparent that the company conducted a skillful and spirited

98. 492 F.2d at 726.
99. 492 F.2d at 727.
100. 397 U.S. 99 (1970).
101. 492 F.2d at 729-30.
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defense in this case, it appears that its only hope was a complete reversal
of the Wiley case. If the Wiley case is viable at all, Gypsum was almost
doomed to failure because, given the complete identity of the work force
across the transaction, there was virtually no significant distinction be-
tween the factual situation in that case and the one extant in Wiley. That
fact apparently dogged the company through its entire defense. Indeed,
when the court denied rehearing after the Howard Johnson decision was
rendered, its stated reason was the substantial continuity of identity be-
tween the purchaser and the seller. The Supreme Court's refusal to grant
certiorari may indicate that at least for a time, the Wiley decision will still
have to be dealt with in the successorship area, despite Burns and last
year's Howard Johnson decision, especially where there is a substantial
continuity of identity in the business enterprise.

The other case decided by the court involving successorship was Boeing.
In that case, decided some five months after the Supreme Court's decision
in Howard Johnson, the court attempted to make some sense out of the
myriad considerations involved in the law of successorship as applied to a
specific factual situation. In so doing, it was somewhat hampered by the
reality of the fact that some of the Supreme Court decisions on successor-
ship deal with the problem in different contexts from others. Thus, Wiley
and Howard Johnson involved the issue of the duty of a successor employer
to arbitrate disputes arising out of a collective bargaining agreement en-
tered into by its predecessor, whereas Burns dealt with the issue of the
extent to which an employer is bound under the provisions of the Labor-
Management Relations Act to recognize and bargain with the collective
bargaining representative of the predecessor's collective bargaining agree-
ment with that representative. These differences haunt judges and attor-
neys seeking to chart a course in this intricate area. The net result is, as
one might expect, difficulties in comprehension from which no one, includ-
ing judges and commentators, is immune.

The Boeing case involved two employers who at different periods of time
had performed installation support services at the Kennedy Space Center
under contract with the National Aeronautics and Space Administration
(NASA). The first employer was Trans-World Airlines (TWA), who had
performed the work form March of 1964 to April of 1971. Under the TWA
regime approximately 1100 non-supervisory personnel were employed, all
of whom were represented in collective bargaining by the IAM. The last
collective bargaining agreement was to run until December 31, 1971. Dur-
ing 1970, NASA invited bids for the performance of that work from con-
tractors, including TWA.

The second employer, Boeing, was awarded the bid, effective April,
1971. Of the 980 employees employed by Boeing, 380 had been formerly
employed by TWA. Boeing took the position that it was bound by its
contract with the IAM and not TWA's contract. Accordingly, it paid all
of its employees, including those who formerly worked for TWA, according

12331975]



MERCER LAW REVIEW

to its contract, gave all employees the same seniority, i.e., from the date
it took over the contract, and declined to observe any other provisions of
the TWA-IAM contract. The local representing the former employees of
TWA grieved, contending that Boeing was bound by the TWA-IAM con-
tract and had violated it by the above acts. Boeing declined to consider
the merits of the grievance, reiterating the position that it had taken re-
garding the TWA contract, and filed suit in federal district court seeking
a declaratory judgment that Boeing was not a successor to and was not
bound by the collective bargaining agreement executed by TWA and IAM.
The union filed a counterclaim, seeking a declaratory judgment that
Boeing was bound, and sought an order compelling Boeing to arbitrate the
grievances described above. The lower court held for the company on all
counts.

Subsequently, the Supreme Court decided Howard Johnson. While the
legal principles in that case were directly applicable to the situation in
Boeing, the facts of the two cases were somewhat different. First, Howard
Johnson involved a purchase of the physical assets of a motel-restaurant
operation which had been, and continued to be, a going concern. Of the
53 union-represented employees of the seller, only 9 were retained by the
buyer. In addition, the work force was curtailed after the sale from 53 to
45. The two employers in Boeing, however, had no business dealings with
one another whatsoever. In fact, they were competitors for the same task,
Boeing displacing TWA. Each was a going concern before and after the
transaction in question. A far greater number (some 35%) of the TWA work
force accepted jobs with Boeing and, in addition, former TWA employees
made up a far greater percentage of the Boeing force (39%) than was the
case in Howard Johnson. Thus, a direct comparison between the factual
situation existing in Howard Johnson with that existing in Boeing was not
possible.

To take care of this problem, each side urged upon the court a myriad
of tests purportedly derived from the principles of Wiley, Burns, and
Howard Johnson. After analyzing all of these, the court adopted its own
general test to decide the case before it, but it declined to set out any hard
and fast rule. Instead, the court analyzed the extent of the continuity and
the identity of the work force across the change in employers as com-
manded by Howard Johnson and the relation between the two employers
themselves as commanded by Burns to determine whether under the cir-
cumstances of the case Boeing could be required to arbitrate.

With regard to the first factor, the court declined to set forth the rule
that "Majority status" is a prerequisite to the obligation to arbitrate. The
court did not read Burns (which was, as noted above, a section 8(a)(5)
case) to require this in the duty to arbitrate situation. In this connection,
the court stated:
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For the purpose of resolving this case . . . we need not decide whether
the principles underlying the Howard Johnson requirement of a substan-
tial continuity in the identity of the work force is to be read as a generally
applied "majority" standard. We conclude only that the continuity in the
identity of the work force must be considered together with other indicia
of enterprise continuity, and turn to a consideration of those factors.'1

The court then analyzed the relationship of TWA and Boeing, acknowl-
edging that under the case law, the nature of the predecessor-successor
relationship is of relatively minor significance. The court felt, however,
that in the duty to arbitrate context the relationship between the predeces-
sor and successor employer was far more critical than in the duty to bar-
gain cases, since the court in Wiley emphasized that it was the continuity
and identity of the enterprise which made the duty to arbitrate under the
predecessor's collective bargaining agreement reasonably related to the
parties sought to be obligated and not something imposed from without.
Moreover, the court noted that the " 'continuity in the identity of the work
force across the change in ownership' constitut[ed] only a necessary but
insufficient part of the enterprise continuity [in] Howard Johnson."'13

The court then contrasted the ordinary purchase and sale situation with
the replacement under periodic rebidding situation of Boeing and, noting
the characterization of the latter situation in Bums, felt it necessary to
recognize that the identity of the business enterprise is more strongly
shown in the former than in the latter. However, the court concluded:

We are not prepared at this stage in the development of successorship
principles . . . to say-when we need not do so to resolve this case-that
there cannot be "any substantial continuity of identity in the business
enterprise" in the absence of a transfer of ownership of tangible assets
between employers, even when the most substantial assets involved in
both the predecessor and successor enterprises may be the relationship to
the primary employer and the collection of the work force, both of which
have passed from the predecessor to the successor employer. Rather in
keeping with the case-by-case approach the Supreme Court has advised,
we conclude at this time only that where the relationship between the
predecessor and successor employers is one of replacement in the periodic
rebidding context, so that demonstration of continuity in the identity of
the enterprise depends completely upon the continuity of the employee
complement, the continuity in the identity of the work force must be more
substantially established than would be required where the relationship
between the predecessor and the successor employers is one of merger, or
purchase and sale.'"

102. 504 F.2d at 320-21.
103. 504 F.2d at 322.
104. 504 F.2d at 322-23.
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With that analysis, the court held that, taking the two factors together,
there was not such a substantial identity as would support an order for
Boeing to arbitrate under the TWA contract. The court concluded with
an interesting acknowledgement:

In this conclusion, we do not pretend to have harmonized the law; such
would be beyond the range of any single opinion, given the variety of
relevant factors. We have simply improvised a tune with which to develop
the established themes, and followed past scores to avoid discord.1'

Whether the court was successful in this regard may well be determined
by the Supreme Court, since the union has filed its petition for certiorari,
which as of the date of writing of this article, has not yet been acted upon
by the Supreme Court. The decision in this case covers 18 pages of the
Federal Reporter, most of which is analytical in nature. It reflects exhaus-
tive work by the panel which considered the case, and obviously reflects a
great deal of thought. Given the tenor of the Supreme Court decision in
Howard Johnson, one could readily conclude that the result reached- was
proper, even though one might disagree with some aspects of the method
by which the conclusion was reached. In any event, this case will be, for
some time, the starting point for research before an attorney advises a
client considering purchasing a business located in the Fifth Circuit or
bidding on a government contract to be performed there.

3. Duty of Fair Representation

The court considered two surprisingly similar cases involving the duty
of fair representation. 10 In Smith v. Local 25 Sheetmetal Workers Interna-
tional Ass'n,107 the court held that a federal district court had jurisdiction
under 28 U.S.C. §1337 (1970)108 to entertain employees' claims that their
union violated its duty of fair representation. Nevertheless, the court af-
firmed a dismissal of the suit on the ground that the affidavits and answers
to interrogatories of record in the case revealed no genuine issue of fact and
that the union was therefore entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The
important holding in the case was that allegations of the breach of duty of
fair representation are not preempted by the unfair labor practice sections
of the National Labor Management Relations Act, nor by the Board's
decision in Miranda Fuel Co.°0 Two months later, the court decided

105. 504 F.2d at 323-24.
106. The duty of fair representation is derived from section 9(a) of the Act, which provides

in essence that the representatives designated or selected for purposes of collective bargaining
shall be the exclusive representatives of all employees. By implication, therefore, there is a
duty to represent all employees on an impartial basis.

107. 500 F.2d 741 (5th Cir. 1974).
108. Which provides:

The district courts shall have original jurisdiction of any civil action or proceeding
arising under any Act of Congress regulating commerce or protecting trade and
commerce against restraints and monopolies.

109. 140 N.L.R.B. No. 181 (1962).
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Mumford v. Glover,"' the holding of which was precisely the same as that
in Smith on the jurisdictional question. Indeed, the authority and analysis
were surprisingly similar. It was interesting to note that although Judge
Bell was on the panel that decided the Smith case, the court in Mumford
did not cite that case as authority for its proposition.

4. Miscellaneous

In the only en banc labor decision during the term, the court, in Mobil
Oil Corp. v. Oil, Chemical & Atomic Workers International Union,"' re-
versed, in an 8 to 6 vote, the three-judge panel decision,"2 and held that
the Texas Right to Work Law applied to invalidate, pursuant to section
14(b) of the Act, an agency shop provision in the union's contract where
the employees had more significant contacts with Texas than with any
other state. The court found those contacts plus the intent of Congress in
formulating section 8(a) (3) and 14(b) of the Act made Texas law applica-
ble to the contract in that case. The vigorous and will-written dissent
disagreed on a number of technical points, in essence agreeing with the
reasoning of the panel.

E. Cases Under Section 303, Etc.

The remainder of the cases dealing with the Labor Management Rela-
tions Act or the Labor-Management Reporting & Disclosure Act"' involve
rather routine matters. First, in Refrigeration Contractors, Inc. v. Local
211, United Ass'n of Journeymen & Apprentices of the Plumbing & Pipefit-
ting Industry,"' the court routinely affirmed the district court decision
finding the union liable under section 303"' of the Act, holding that the
court's findings of unlawful intent were supported by the record. The court
held further that damages recoverable were not to be computed on the
basis of the contract price, but were to be for the profits lost by the com-
pany as the result of the unlawful actions.

Two other cases, Wambles v. I.B.T."' and Dantagnan v. ILA, Local
1418"1 involved internal union conflicts which got to the court via section
101 of the Labor Management Reporting and Disclosure Act."' In
Wambles, the court chose the Third Circuit resolution of the problem of
the rights of appointed union officers who support a loser in a business

110. 503 F.2d 878 (5th Cir. 1974).
111. 504 F.2d 272 (5th Cir. 1974).
112. 483 F.2d 603 (5th Cir. 1973.
113. 29 U.S.C. §401 (1970).
114. 501 F.2d 668 (5th Cir. 1974).
115. 29 U.S.C. §187(b) (1970).
116. 488 F.2d 885 (5th Cir. 1974).
117. 496 F.2d 400 (5th Cir. 1974).
118. 29 U.S.C. §411 (1970).
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representative election. In the court's view, such officers are subject to
dismissal by the winner, in accordance with the by-laws of the union. In
Dantagnan, the court held that an alleged violation of section 101 by
failing to return dues increases improperly assessed is in the nature of a
quasi-contract case rather than a tort case. Therefore, under the laws of
Louisiana, such claims are subject to a 10 year statute of limitation rather
than a one year statute.

Finally, in Balderas v. LaCasita Farms, Inc., "I the court held that while
an employee did not make out a case that his discharge violated Title VII
of the Civil Rights Act,'20 he did make out the pendent claim of a violation
of the Texas Right to Work Law'2 ' when he proved that his discharge was
because of his activities in a farmworkers' union organization attempt. The
court reversed the district court's denial of reinstatement, holding that the
court could not deny such relief merely because it did not think it in the
best interest of the employee.

I. RAILWAY LABOR ACT

During the year, only three cases were decided under the Railway Labor
Act.' In International Ass'n of Machinists & Aerospace Workers, District
145 v. Modern Air Transport, Inc.,' the court held that the award of a
System Board of Adjustment'24 was within its authority of "interpretation"
when it construed the word "customarily" to mean "exclusively." In Kline
v. Florida Air Lines, Inc.,15 the court held that a settlement agreement
between the company and the union which disposed of an employee's
grievance precluded him from later raising the issues involved in that
grievance in a lawsuit under the Railway Labor Act. Finally, in Giordano
v. Modem Air Transport, Inc. '" the court held that the district court
properly dismissed an employee's attack on an award of a System Board
of Adjustment, which the court held to be final and binding and imper-
vious to attack because of alleged infirmities occurring prior to a submis-
sion to the Board.

All three cases involved application of settled principles of law.

I. FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT AND RELATED LEGISLATION

The court decided fewer cases during the year than the year previous

119. 500 F.2d 195 (5th Cir. 1974).
120. 42 U.S.C. §2000(e) (1970).
121. VERNON's ANN. TEx. Ctv. ST. art. 5154g.
122. 45 U.S.C. ch. 8 (1970).
123. 495 F.2d 1241 (5th Cir. 1974).
124. 45 U.S.C. §184 (1970).
125. 496 F.2d 919 (5th Cir. 1974).
126. 504 F.2d 882 (5th Cir. 1974).
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under the Fair Labor Standards Act. Except for two cases in the age
discrimination area, the decisions of the court involved routine application
of reasonably well settled law. In this connection, the court in Brennan v.
Heard' reapplied the "in the picture" test'2 8 for "willfulness"'' and held
that an employers admission that he had "heard talk" regarding an exten-
sion of coverage of the Act was sufficient to prove "willfulness."

Brennan v. Partida'30 and Brennan v. Lauderdale Yacht Basin, Inc. ,13

involved consideration of two issues which have been litigated thoroughly
in the years since the Act was passed. Partida applied well settled law
concerning the employee-in-dependant contractor issue and concluded the
laundromat attendants in question were "employees."' 32 In Lauderdale,
the court applied settled principles of "regular rate"'1 to hold that sales
employees paid well in excess of the minimum wage were still entitled to
one and a half times their "regular rate" for all hours worked over 40 per
week. That rate must be computed in accordance with the understanding
between the employer and the employee.

Finally, in Martinez v. Behring's Bearings Service, Inc.,"" the court held
in a two to one vote (Chief Judge Brown dissenting) that section 15(a)(3) I
of the Act, which provides in essence that it is unlawful to discharge an
employee because of his filing a complaint with the Labor Department,
does not give that employee an implied federal cause of action cognizable
in the district court.

In Roebuck v. Florida Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services,
Inc., ' the court refused to read the Supreme Court's recent decision in

127. 491 F.2d 1 (5th Cir. 1974).
128. Coleman v. Jiffy June Farms, Inc., 458 F.2d 1139 (5th Cir. 1972), held that the test

for determining whether or not an employer's conduct is "willful" under the Fair Labor
Standards Act is, "did the employer know the FLSA was in the picture."

129. 29 U.S.C. §255 (1970) provides that all suits under the Fair Labor Standards Act
shall be forever barred unless commenced within two years after the cause of action
accrued, except that a cause of action arising out of a willful violation may be
commenced within three years after the cause of action accrued. Thus, what is at
stake in cases of this type is an additional year of back wage liability.

130. 492 F.2d 707 (5th Cir. 1974).
131. 493 F.2d 188 (5th Cir. 1974).
132. 29 U.S.C. §203(e) (1970) defines an employee as including "any individual employed

by an employer."
133. 29 U.S.C. §207(a)(1) (1970) provides in pertinent part that an employee must receive

compensation for hours worked in excess of 40 per week "at a rate not less than one and one-
half times the regular rate at which he is employed."

29 C.F.R. §778.109 (1971) provides that the regular rate is determined "by dividing [the
employee's] total remuneration for employment 'except statutory exclusions' in any work-
week by the total number of hours actually worked by him in that work-week for which such
compensation was paid."

134. 501 F.2d 104 (5th Cir. 1974).
135. 29 U.S.C. §215(a)(3) (1970).
136. 502 F.2d 1105 (5th Cir. 1974).
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Employees of the Department of Public Health & Welfare of Missouri v.
Department of Public Health & Welfare of Missouri'37 as precluding a suit
for injunctive relief to prevent the classification of certain employees as
"handicapped trainees" to avoid payment of the minimum wage.

Finally, in Brennan v. Texas City Dike & Marina, Inc. ,' 38 the court held
that when an establishment had 57% of its income derived from the selling
of boats, motors, and trailers, it was not an "amusement and recreational
establishment" within the meaning of section 13(a)(3)' 39 of the Act.

A. Age Discrimination In Employment Act

The court decided three cases involving the Age Discrimination in Em-
ployment Act,"" one involving a rather routine procedural matter and the
other two involving more significant and debatable points. The procedural
case, Powell v. Southwestern Bell Telephone Co.,"' held that an em-
ployee's letter to the Secretary of Labor requesting the Secretary to file suit
on her behalf was not such a "notice of intent to sue" as is required by the
Act.'42 Further, the court held that a refusal to employ an employee in a
protected category is not a "continuing" violation of the Act.

In Brennan v. Taft Broadcasting Co.' the court considered a more
weighty problem, holding that it was not unlawful under the Act to dis-
charge an employee at age 60 and thereafter refuse to rehire him when such
action was allowed by a "profit sharing retirement plan" in which the
employee voluntarily participated prior to the Act's passage. In so holding,
the court found that the plan in question was a "bona fide employee
benefit plan" within the meaning of the Act, rejecting the contention that
the Internal Revenue Service guidelines militated against such a conclu-
sion inasmuch as the guidelines interpreted a different statute for different
purposes. The court also found that it was not significant that the em-
ployee when signing up for the plan received only a summary of that plan
rather than the entire text of the plan. In that connection, the court noted
that the summary accurately described the portions of the plan which were
at issue in the case. Finally, the court held that the failure to rehire the
employee was not a separate violation of the Act because such a conclusion
would make the statutory language meaningless. The dissent disagreed
with the majority primarily because it read the bona fide benefit plan
exception inapplicable to situations not required by the plan.

In the other significant case, Wilson v. Sealtest Foods Division, Kraftco

137. 411 U.S. 279 (1973).
138. 492 F.2d 1115 (5th Cir. 1974).
139. 29 U.S.C. §213(a)(3) (1970).
140. 29 U.S.C. §621 (1970).
141. 494 F.2d 485 (5th Cir. 1974).
142. 29 U.S.C. §626(d) (1970).
143. 500 F.2d 213 (5th Cir. 1974).
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Corp., 4the court set up the standard for prima facie case in an ADEA
suit. Under Sealtest, if an employee proves (a) that he is within the pro-
tected class; (b) that he was asked to take earlier retirement against his
will; (c) that prior to that time he was apparently doing satisfactory work;
and (d) that he was replaced by a younger person, it is error to grant a
directed verdict at the close of the plaintiff's evidence.

The court relied to some degree on a Supreme Court decision in
McDonell Douglas Corp. v. Green,'5 although it did not expressly adopt
that case in the age discrimination context.

B. Equal Pay Act

In the only case involving the Equal Pay Act,' the court in Brennan v.
Victoria Bank & Trust Co.,"' after detailed comparison of job content
regarding skill, effort, and responsibility, affirmed a lower court in part
and reversed it in part, finding certain jobs were not "equal" within the
meaning of the Act and others were "equal." The case is important from
the standpoint of the method of analysis rather than from the conclusions
as to the particular jobs. It is recommended that anyone having an equal
pay case review the Victoria Bank case carefully for instruction as to the
method to be used in analysis.

IV. OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH ACT

During the term, the court considered five cases under the Occupational
Safety and Health Act."18 Among the cases considered was an attack by an
employer on the emergency OSHA standards regarding pesticide,"' and an
attack by the Secretary on an interpretation by the Occupational Safety
and Health Review Commission to the effect that in some instances, nei-
ther protective devices nor safety nets are required to protect employees
working at great heights. 150 Both the employer and the Secretary were
successful in their attacks. In other actions, the court refused to take a
restrictive interpretation of the general "personal protective equipment"
standard,'' holding that it was not unconstitutionally vague, and, as "rem-
edial legislation" was valid.'52 The case arose in the context of a nonserious

144. 501 F.2d 84 (5th Cir. 1974).
145. 411 U.S. 792 (1973).
146. 29 U.S.C. §206(d)(1) (1970).
147. 493 F.2d 896 (5th Cir. 1974).
148. 29 U.S.C. §651 (1970).
149. Florida Peach Growers Ass'n v. United States Dept. of Labor, 489 F.2d 120 (5th Cir.

1974).
150. Brennan v. Southern Contractors Serv., 492 F.2d 498 (5th Cir. 1974) and Brennan v.

Verne-Woodrow Co., 494 F.2d 1181 (5th Cir. 1974).
151. 29 C.F.R. 1910.132(a) (1973).
152. Ryder Truck Lines, Inc. v. Brennan, 497 F.2d 230 (5th Cir. 1974).
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violation for a trucking company failing to provide foot protection on a
loading dock. Finally, the court resolved an internecine procedural struggle
between the Secretary and the Review Commission which was more impor-
tant as a study in bureaucratic pettiness than it was in the ultimate resolu-
tion of the issue.153

For the most part, the cases involving OSHA continue to reflect the
difficulties faced by the Secretary of Labor, the Occupational Safety and
Health Review Commission, and employers operating in a new administra-
tive framework.

V. CONCLUSION

In attempting to evaluate the court's work in the labor law area during
1974, one can only be impressed with the increased variety of statutory and
factual settings which must be considered. With that perspective, it would
be presumptuous to attempt to render a qualitative judgment on the over-
all performance of the court in one field. The court, however, must be
commended in its obviously objective and diversified approach to labor
problems, and in its refusal to be categorized or pigeon-holed. To one
writer, at least, that is the strength of the United States Court of Appeals
for the Fifth Circuit in the labor law area.

153. Brennan v. Occupational Safety & Health Review Comm'n, 502 F.2d 30 (5th Cir.
1974).
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